







HEALTHCARE AND HUMAN SERVICES POLICY, RESEARCH, AND CONSULTING — WITH REAL-WORLD PERSPECTIVE.

Final Report on the Value of the Poison Center System

Prepared for: American Association of Poison Control Centers (AAPCC)

Submitted by: The Lewin Group, Inc.

September 26, 2012

Table of Contents

EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	II
LIST	OF ACRONYMS	IV
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	A. Research Justification	1
	B. Research Objectives	2
II.	BACKGROUND	3
	A. Sources of Funding and Expenditures for Poison Centers	3
	B. Baseline Poisoning Statistics	4
III.	METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS	6
	A. Savings Due to Avoided Medical Utilization	6
	B. Savings Due to Reduced Hospital Length of Stay	7
	C. Savings Due to In-Person Outreach Services	9
	D. Savings Due to Reduced Work-Loss Days	10
	E. Savings Summary	11
IV.	FEEDBACK FROM A SAMPLE OF POISON CENTERS	13
	A. Methods	13
	B. Overview	13
	C. Funding Restraints	13
V.	DISCUSSION	15
VI.	REFERENCES	16
APP	ENDIX A - AAPCC INTERVIEW OUESTIONS	19



Executive Summary

The Lewin Group was commissioned by the American Association of Poison Control Centers (AAPCC) to analyze the existing literature regarding the impact of the poison center system on medical utilization and to quantify the value of the system as a whole. The influential role poison centers play in the US health system has largely gone unrecognized although poison centers provide value in a number of areas including direct consultation to the public and health care providers (both human and veterinary); law enforcement; product manufacturers; insurers; and local, state, and federal governments. In addition, poison centers provide real-time surveillance data allowing for the identification and tracking of public health and environmental threats. Additional poison center contributions include community educational outreach for poison prevention and safety, toxicology training to health care professionals, community monitoring and surveillance, assistance with emergency preparedness and response, and providing the public information about current events of toxicological significance (e.g., the Gulf oil spill, bath salts, and button batteries).

The actual value of health care savings attributable to poison centers is difficult to quantify due to the preventive nature of their services. The efforts of poison centers have been shown to reduce unnecessary and costly health care utilization. A number of studies have demonstrated that poison centers reduce health care spending and that the amount of these savings far exceeds the cost of providing poison center services. Despite these results, poison centers have recently undergone severe reductions in federal, state and other support streams and may soon experience additional cuts in federal funding. These financial cuts threaten the existence of some poison centers while other poison centers have been forced to drastically reduce the type and quantity of services they offer their communities. Reductions in the preventive and educational services offered by poison centers are likely to result in higher health care spending paid for by federal and state governments, private insurers, and consumers.

The analyses conducted in this report confirm the overwhelming return on investment (ROI) that the poison center system contributes to the nation as a whole. The savings resulting from poison centers services are:

- \$752.9 million per year due to avoided medical utilization
- \$441.1 million per year due to reduced hospital length of stay
- \$23.9 million per year due to in-person outreach
- \$603 million per year due to reduced work-loss days.

In total, the poison center system saves over \$1.8 billion per year in medical costs and productivity. The ROI is \$13.39 for every dollar invested in the poison center system. Also, the savings and cost to fund poison centers relative to the population served (i.e., which includes 315,771,469 residents of the United States, Puerto Rico, US Virgin Islands, American Samoa, Micronesia, and Guam) are \$5.77 per year and \$0.43 per year per resident respectively. These savings are shared by the federal, state, and local governments and the private sector.



Funding Source	Total Poison Center Funding (in millions) in 2011	Estimated Medical Care Savings and Reduced Productivity Loss (in millions)/year	Medical Care Savings and Reduced Productivity Loss per Dollar of Funding per year
Federal Government	\$17.1	\$662.8	\$38.74
State and Local Government	\$83.8	\$284.2	\$3.39
Private	\$35.1	\$873.4	\$24.86
Total	\$136.0	\$1,820.5	\$13.39

Our estimates of savings are higher than those previously reported because our analysis is more comprehensive and includes all of the four most commonly referenced savings metrics (*i.e.*, savings due to avoided medical utilization, reduced hospital length of stay, in-person outreach, and reduced work-loss days). Please note we did not attempt to quantify the value of other recognized benefits of the poison center system, which include but are not limited to the provision of surveillance data to Federal agencies, toxicology training of health care professionals, and involvement in local, State, and Federal emergency preparedness and response. Future research should explore the influence of poison center services on mortality.



List of Acronyms

AAPCC American Association of Poison Control Centers

AHA American Hospital Association

AHRQ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CPI Consumer Price Index

HCUP Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project

HRSA Health Resources and Services Administration HSPD-21 Homeland Security Presidential Directive 21

LOS Length of Stay

MEPS Medical Expenditure Panel Survey

NEDS Nationwide Emergency Department Sample

NIS National Inpatient Sample

NJPIES New Jersey Poison Information and Education System

NPDS National Poison Data System

PAHPA Pandemic All-Hazards Preparedness Act

ROI Return on Investment

SCHIP State Child Health Insurance Program



I. Introduction

The Lewin Group was commissioned by the American Association of Poison Control Centers (AAPCC) to analyze the existing literature regarding the impact of the poison center system on medical utilization and to quantify the value of the system as a whole. AAPCC is a nonprofit organization that was established in 1958 to support local poison centers in the United States. Currently, the AAPCC provides support to 57 poison centers that offer free, 24-hour, over the phone, expert consultation by professionals specially trained in poison prevention and treatment. The AAPCC collects and aggregates data from poison centers into the National Poison Data System (NPDS), the only national database that maintains detailed, up-to-date information on poisonings used by many federal and state agencies. The NPDS also serves as a national biosurveillance tool described in the Pandemic All-Hazards Preparedness Act (PAHPA) and Homeland Security Presidential Directive 21 (HSPD-21).^{1,2}

The provision of patient health care has been a fundamental part of poison center services. Poison center professionals serve as primary health care providers for the home management of suspected poisonings and as toxicology consultants for health care providers and hospitals. In less than a few minutes, callers are connected to specially trained individuals knowledgeable of the treatment, prevention and safety measures that should be taken to prevent injury from a number of hazardous materials. This rapid early intervention often limits morbidity and prevents mortality. Poison center staff follow up on each case of suspected or known poisoning in order to assess the effects of treatment, to advise about continuing care, and to collect data on the occurrence of poisonings. In addition, poison centers have emerged as a useful asset in the response to local, state, national, and international emergencies by providing up-to-date information to the public and the media specifically targeting the communities they serve.^{3, 4} The services offered by poison centers are available in over 150 languages and are accessible to those who are deaf and others who may have hearing disabilities. Poison centers do not charge the public a fee for any of the services they provide.

There are many direct and indirect beneficiaries of poison center activities. The actual value of health care savings attributable to poison centers is difficult to quantify due to the preventive nature of their services. The influential role they play in the US health system has largely gone unrecognized although poison centers provide value in a number of areas including direct consultation to the public and health care providers (both human and veterinary); law enforcement; product manufacturers; insurers; and local, state, and federal governments. In addition, poison centers provide real-time surveillance data allowing for the identification and tracking of public health and environmental threats.³⁻⁵ Additional poison center contributions include community educational outreach for poison prevention and safety, toxicology training to health care professionals, community monitoring and surveillance, assistance with emergency preparedness and response, and providing the public with information about current events of toxicological significance (e.g., the Gulf oil spill, bath salts, and button batteries).¹ The efforts of poison centers have been shown to reduce unnecessary and costly health care utilization.

A. Research Justification

A number of studies have demonstrated that poison centers reduce health care spending and that the amount of these savings far exceeds the cost of providing poison center services. Despite this knowledge and their accomplishments in the past 50 years, poison centers have recently



undergone severe reductions in federal, state and other support streams and may soon experience additional cuts in federal funding. ⁶ These financial cuts threaten the existence of many poison centers while other poison centers have been forced to drastically reduce the type and quantity of services they offer their communities. Reductions in preventive and educational services offered by poison centers are likely to result in higher health care spending paid for by federal and state governments, private insurers, and consumers. It is therefore prudent to reevaluate the influence of the poison center system on health care utilization and health care spending because it is important to understand and update information regarding the cost efficiencies these organizations provide their communities and the nation as a whole.

B. Research Objectives

In this white paper, we provide the results of our analysis which, for the first time, describes the value of the poison center system using all four of the most commonly referenced savings metrics (*i.e.*, savings due to avoided medical utilization, in-person outreach, reduced hospital length-of-stay (LOS) and reduced work-loss days). The specific objective of this research is to provide a full analysis of the cost and benefits of the US poison center system.



II. Background

In order to determine the value of the poison center system, basic information is needed on poison center operational costs and sources of funding. The AAPCC administered a Financial Survey to its members through an independent survey research organization in December 2011. There was a 79% response rate with 45 of 57 poison centers providing self-reported, de-identified information. Respondents were asked to report funding amounts for their most recently completed fiscal year. Fiscal year varies by poison center, with most poison centers ending their fiscal year in June or December 2011.⁷ As a result, the most recent cuts in federal funding were not reflected in the results of this survey.

A. Sources of Funding and Expenditures for Poison Centers

Using information gathered from the Financial Survey, the total cost of the poison center system was estimated to be \$136 million. States were the primary source of funding (excluding state-administered block grants and Medicaid), followed by private and federal funding. Poison centers were found to spend an overwhelming majority (76%) of their funding on personnel. Using information from the survey in addition to AAPCC knowledge of specific grant amounts from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), funding sources were grouped into three categories: Federal HRSA grants, State and Local Funds, and Private Funds. Federal funding includes only the federal HRSA grants of \$18.6 million, less 8% for administration which equals \$17.1 million (13% of the \$136 million total). All remaining public funds (federal, state, county and city) were included in state and local government funding. Specific breakdowns for poison center sources of funding and expenditures are shown in Exhibits 1 and 2 respectively.⁷

Exhibit 1. Sources of Poison Center Funding

Source of Funding	%	Amount in 2011 (in millions)
Federal HRSA Grants (excluding administration)	13%	\$17.1
State and Local Funds (including preparedness funds, Medicaid, State-Administered block grants and other state, city and county funding)	62%	\$83.8
Private Funds (including hospital, host institution, research, grants, donations, health insurers, HMOs and other business funds)	25%	\$35.1
Total	100%	\$136.0

Exhibit 2. Poison Center Expenditures

Expenditure Type	%	Amount in 2011 (in millions)
Personnel	76%	\$103.4
Databases/References	2%	\$2.7
Telephone	1%	\$1.4
Education & Outreach	2%	\$2.7
Travel	1%	\$1.4
Rent	2%	\$2.7



Expenditure Type	%	Amount in 2011 (in millions)
All Other Expenses	16%	\$21.8
Total	100%	\$136.0

B. Baseline Poisoning Statistics

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate in 2009, there were 41,593 poisoning deaths of which 31,758 were attributable to unintentional poisonings. Poisoning-related deaths were named as the second highest cause of unintentional injury deaths in all ages in the same year. In recent years, the numbers of poison-related deaths have increased fourfold due to the misuse and abuse of prescription medications, specifically opioids (*e.g.*, methadone). Poisonings also accounted for 438,244 hospitalizations, 749,061 emergency department visits not resulting in a hospitalization, and 1.4 million physician and outpatient clinic visits (specific data sources are shown in Exhibit 3). A number of sources were used to assess this most recent data regarding encounters with the health care system due to poisonings. These data sources included:

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP)
 - 2010 National Inpatient Sample (NIS)
 - 2009 AHRQ Nationwide Emergency Department Sample (NEDS)
- 2006 -2009 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)

HCUP is a nationwide information resource on patient-level health care made possible by a federal, state, and private industry collaborative effort supported by AHRQ.¹⁰ The NIS is a part of HCUP and is an inpatient health care database that contains information on hospital stays from US hospitals in states representing 96% of the US population. The NIS includes information for all patients including those covered by Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance, and those patients who are uninsured. Data collected through the NIS can be weighted to produce national estimates.¹¹ The NEDS is another resource in HCUP that contains nationwide information on emergency department visits. Information on emergency department visits includes health care encounters that do and do not result in hospital admission.¹² MEPS is a collection of family, individual, medical provider, and employer surveys on the utilization and cost of health care and insurance coverage. The household component of the MEPS data was used to collect information for the current study.¹³ Exhibit 3 displays baseline statistics for poisonings and Exhibits 4 and 5 shows the amount of medical spending for poisonings by medical setting and source of payment, respectively.



2006-09 MEPS*

Poison Statistic Source 2010 NPDS Total Number of Cases Managed by Poison Centers 3,952,772 **Annual Report** Total Number of Human Exposure Cases Managed by 2010 NPDS Poison Centers 2,384,825 **Annual Report** Deaths 41,592 2009 CDC Fact Sheet Inpatient admissions 438,244 2010 AHRQ - NIS Inpatient days 1,532,523 2010 AHRQ - NIS Emergency department visits without inpatient admission 749,061 2009 AHRQ - NEDS

Exhibit 3. Baseline Poison Statistics

1,395,127

Physician office visits without hospital inpatient admission

Exhibit 4. Baseline Medical Spending for Poisonings (in millions)

Medical Setting	Associated Costs
Emergency Departments	\$554.6
Office/Outpatient Visits	\$200.5
Hospitalizations	\$3,706.0
Total	\$4,461.1

Exhibit 5. Baseline Poison Statistics (in millions)

Source of Payment	Associated Costs
Family Out of Pocket	\$191.4
Medicare	\$1,171.1
Medicaid	\$1,465.2
Private Insurance	\$1,396.9
Other Public Coverage	\$236.5
Total	\$4,461.1

To estimate how much was paid for medical encounters due to poisonings and the sources of payment, we used the MEPS data for 2006-2009. These data provide detailed information on payments by source (family out-of-pocket, Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance, Veterans, TRICARE, Worker's Compensation, other public and private sources). Using these data, we computed the average payment per service and the distribution of payments by source separately for hospital inpatient, emergency department, and physician office visits for encounters related to poisonings. However, for hospital inpatient services, we used the average cost per hospital day of \$1,910 (American Hospital Association (AHA) Annual Survey 2010). The average payment per service and the distribution by source of payment was multiplied by the number of services for each service type presented above. Finally, we inflated the spending estimates to 2011 using percapita spending growth estimates from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services National Health Expenditure projections through 2011.



^{*2006 -2009} MEPS data was "pooled" in order to increase sample size for poisoning cases.

III. Methodology and Results

The literature review revealed several trends regarding cost efficiencies offered by poison centers, including:

- Savings due to avoided medical utilization
- Savings due to reduced hospital LOS
- Savings due to in-person outreach services
- Savings due to reduced work-loss days.

An analysis based on each of these trends was conducted to estimate poison centers' savings attributable by medical setting and source of payment. Current analyses are based on the results of previous peer-reviewed research examining the contributions of the poison center system. The methods and results of the analysis are described in the following sections.

A. Savings Due to Avoided Medical Utilization

One of the primary benefits of the poison center system is that it enables people to treat poisonings at home and avoid unnecessary medical utilization. This avoided medical utilization produces cost efficiencies. A study conducted by Phillips *et al* found that instead of resolving county funding shortages, the elimination of poison center access actually resulted in higher levels of expense than those expenses required to fund the preventive services offered by the poison center. Health care cost savings are shared by hospitals, insurers, taxpayers, and government health care funding agencies such as Medicaid, Medicare, and the State Child Health Insurance Program (SCHIP).

Multiple studies have found that when poison center services are unavailable or not utilized, individuals seek more costly alternative methods for actual or suspected poisoning-related incidents. Lovejoy and Chafee-Bahamon found that of parents who did not call their poison center, 44% visited the emergency room compared to less than 1% of those parents utilizing poison center services. 15 Schleich and McIntire found that 85% of individuals would have gone to the emergency department if a poison center had not been accessible. 16 King and Palmisano examined the influence the Louisiana poison center closure had on the neighboring poison center in Alabama. The authors noted that 63.3% of parents of young children would have utilized emergency medical services in the absence of a poison center.¹⁷ In a statement made in 1994 by Ted Miller to a subcommittee of the U.S. House of Representatives, Miller reported that after the interruption of poison center services in Louisiana, Michigan, and California, the number of medically treated poisonings and hospitalizations collectively rose by 37% and 16% respectively. Kearney et al found that 79% of poison center callers would have used emergency services in the absence of a poison center.¹⁸ In a recent study, an analysis conducted by Miller and Lestina showed that poison centers reduced unnecessary hospitalizations by 12% and medically treated outpatient services by 24%.19

The above studies indicate that the availability of poison control centers reduce unnecessary medically treated outpatient poisonings by 24% - 37% and 12 - 16% for unnecessary



hospitalizations related to poisonings. The current analysis uses the mid-point of these ranges to estimate the savings attributed to poison centers due to avoided medical utilization using the most recent baseline statistics collected on emergency department visits, in-patient hospitalization, and out-patient visits. Based on these study results, we estimated \$752.9 million savings due to avoided medical care. Exhibit 6 illustrates the savings in terms of medical setting and Exhibit 7 illustrates the savings in terms of payment source.

Exhibit 6. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Avoided Medical Utilization by Medical Setting

Medical Setting	% of Savings Attributable to Poison Centers	Savings in Dollars per Year (in millions)
Emergency Departments	31%	\$171.9
Office/Outpatient Visits	31%	\$62.2
Hospitalizations	14%	\$518.8
Total	\$752.9	

Exhibit 7. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Avoided Medical Utilization by Payment Source

Source of Payment	Savings in Dollars per Year (in millions)
Family Out of Pocket	\$47.1
Medicare	\$176.9
Medicaid	\$214.7
Private Insurance	\$271.6
Other Public Coverage	\$42.7
Total	\$752.9

B. Savings Due to Reduced Hospital Length of Stay

In addition to avoided utilization of emergency room and physician services, poison centers have been found to reduce the LOS for hospitalizations due to poisonings when a poison center is consulted by the provider. The reason for this is that many health care providers access poison centers to assist in determining the type and effects of poisoning and the recommended treatment protocol. Treating poisoning patients requires extensive specialized knowledge that not all physicians can be expected to possess and maintain. Poison centers give providers an independent source of technical information on the effects of poisonings and the best practices for treatment.

In an effort to determine the effects of poison center consultation on hospital LOS, Vassilev and Marcus examined New Jersey Health Department and poison center data on all poisonings reported to the New Jersey Poison Information and Education System (NJPIES) in 2002. They found that with the assistance of a poison center, LOS was reduced by approximately 3 days.²⁰ In 2011, Galvao *et al* conducted a similar study which examined the medical records of poisoned patients in Manaus between 2005 and 2007. They compared this information to local poison center data to determine which patients utilized poison center services. Patients using poison center services experienced on average a 3.43 day shorter LOS than those who did not use the



poison center prior to seeking medical attention.²¹ This analysis uses the mid-point between these two estimates (*i.e.*, 3.2 day reduction) to estimate savings attributable to poison centers due to reduced hospital LOS for poisonings.

This analysis also assumes that poison centers are consulted on 12% of hospitalizations related to poisonings. This assumption uses a mid-point based on two studies. Vassilev and Marcus matched poisonings reported to the New Jersey Poison Information and Education System to hospital admissions to New Jersey Hospitals. The authors identified a sample of 31,052 hospitalizations, of which 1,719 (6%) were matched to a NJPIES case.²⁰ Bunn *et al* compiled a study sample of 6,249 hospitalizations in Kentucky hospitals associated with accidental poisonings. In total 1,102 patients (18%) were identified as receiving poison center consultation originating from the hospital.²²

Based on the results of these studies, we estimated savings of \$441.1 million attributed to reduced LOS when a poison center is consulted by the provider. Exhibits 8 and 9 show the results of this analysis by medical setting and source of payment respectively.

Exhibit 8. Annual Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Reduced Hospital Length of Stay by Medical Setting

Medical Setting	% of Savings Attributable to Poison Centers	Savings per Year (in millions)
Emergency Departments	N/A	\$0.0
Office/Outpatient Visits	N/A	\$0.0
Hospitalizations	Reduction of 3.2 days * 12% of hospitalizations	\$441.1
Total		\$441.1

Exhibit 9. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Reduced Hospital Length of Stay by Payment Source

Source of Payment	Savings per Year (in millions)
Family Out of Pocket	\$8.6
Medicare	\$130.3
Medicaid	\$167.7
Private Insurance	\$113.0
Other Public Coverage	\$21.4
Total	\$441.1



C. Savings Due to In-Person Outreach Services

Another important function of poison centers is to provide educational programs for both lay persons and medical professionals. For example, many poison centers provide education to school teachers and parents on how to avoid poisonings for children. They also provide formal education and training to physicians and other health care workers on the more technical aspects of diagnosing and treating poisoning. These services help to reduce the incidence of potential poisonings in the community while improving medical response. Poison prevention education and outreach, whose value is not easily quantified, is another societal benefit offered by poison centers. Understanding the additional community benefits provided by poison centers are important at this time because members of Congress have argued for consolidating the 57 poison centers into a single national call center. Consolidation would eliminate all of the community outreach and education conducted by the poison centers within their own communities. The available research on poison centers and public health interventions suggests that the savings from these outreach activities exceed the cost of providing the outreach services. Consolidation would eliminate the net benefit of these activities.^{23, 24}

The only study evaluating the ROI in poison center education and outreach was conducted by Fisher and Van Buren in Monroe County, New York. The authors found that over a four-year period, educational interventions (*e.g.*, school seminars, retailer outreach, distribution of educational materials, and mass media) decreased medical spending by \$3 dollars for every dollar contributed to education and outreach.^{19, 25} This 3 to 1 return on investment was used in the current analysis.

AAPCC surveyed poison centers in June 2012 to determine their investments (including personnel costs) in education and community outreach. These data provided information on the percentage of the poison center budget that was dedicated to each specific educational outreach activity described in more detail in Exhibit 10. A total of 29 poison centers responded (22 poison centers identified themselves) resulting in a 51% response rate. Data from 20 poison centers provided adequate information for the analysis.

Exhibit 10. Percentage of Poison Center Education and Outreach Budget Spent Annually by Specific Service

#	Education/Outreach Activity	Average % of Poison Center Education and Outreach Budget
1	Training new generations of pharmacy, medical, toxicology and other health professional students.	7.2%
2	Providing education and outreach to the nonprofessional community with the goal of preventing poisoning and/or raising awareness of the Poison Help number.	5.8%
3	Working with allied health personnel to build awareness, recognition and/or response appropriate to a poisoning incident.	2.3%
4	Disaster and public health related services	1.6%
5	Medication take back programs	0.9%
6	Other types of services that must be performed in person	1.7%



Estimates from the survey were used on the percentage of poison center budget spent on educating non-professionals in the community regarding poisoning prevention and awareness of the Poison Help number (education/outreach activity #2). These data indicate that 5.8% of poison centers budget (\$136M * 5.8% = \$7.8M) is attributed to these activities, which results in savings of \$23.9 million assuming the 3 to 1 return on investment. Exhibit 11 shows these savings by medical setting and in Exhibit 12 by source of payment.

Exhibit 11. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Education/Outreach Activity by Medical Setting

Education/Outreach Activity	Medical Setting	% of Savings Attributable to Poison Centers	Savings per Year (in millions)
Providing education and outreach to the non-professional community with the goal of preventing poisoning and/or raising awareness of the Poison Helpnumber.	Emergency Departments	\$3 savings per \$1 spent on outreach	\$3.0
	Office/Outpatient Visits		\$1.1
	Hospitalizations		\$19.8
Total			\$23.9

Exhibit 12. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Specific Education/Outreach Activity by Payment Source

Education/Outreach Activity	Medical Setting	% of Savings Attributable to Poison Centers	Savings per Year (in millions)
Providing education and	Family Out of Pocket		\$1.0
outreach to the non-	Medicare		\$6.3
professional community with the goal of	Medicaid	\$3 savings per \$1	\$7.8
preventing poisoning	Private Insurance	spent on outreach	\$7.5
and/or raising awareness of the Poison Help			
number.	Other Public Coverage		\$1.3
Total			\$23.9

D. Savings Due to Reduced Work-Loss Days

It is very difficult to objectively assess all of the societal benefits that can be attributed to poison center services due to the preventive nature of their activities. In addition to medical costs for treatment, poisonings can result in loss of part or all of a victim's productivity potential. Productivity losses related to fatalities represent the value of goods and services never produced due to the poisoning-related premature death and estimated based on remaining lifetime earnings. Nonfatal poisonings may result in both short-term productivity losses as well as lifetime productivity losses primarily due to lost work days resulting from the injury.

To estimate the amount of lifetime productivity losses due to poisonings that occurred in 2011, we updated estimates produced by Finkelstein on lifetime productivity losses for poisonings



occurring in 2000.²⁶ The 2000 estimates were inflated to account for change in incidence of poisonings as estimated above and general inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for all urban consumers between 2000 and 2011.

We estimated the impact that avoided medical care attributed to the effort of poison centers would have on productivity loss and lost work days. We assume that if inpatient and outpatient medical encounters for poisonings are avoided, then the amount of work productivity loss should be reduced in proportion. We estimate that the effect of poison centers on avoiding medical care reduced work productivity losses by \$603 million in 2011. Exhibit 13 displays the savings attributable to poison centers due to reduced work-loss days.

Category	Incidence	Lifetime Productivity Loss 2011 (in millions)	Savings per Year (in millions)
Deaths	41,592	\$61,019	N/A*
Hospitalizations discharged alive	434,738	\$1,060	\$148
Non-hospitalizations without hospital admission	2,153,360	\$1,472	\$454
Total	2,629,690	\$63,551	\$603

Exhibit 13. Savings Attributable to Poison Centers Due to Reduced Work-Loss Days

E. Savings Summary

The comprehensive four-part analysis described above outlines savings attributed to poison centers due to avoided medical utilization, reduced hospital LOS, in-person outreach, and reduced work-loss days. Exhibit 14 provides the total amount of savings compared to total funding by source.

Exhibit 14. Total Estimated Direct Medical Care Savings Attributable to Poison Centers by Medical Setting

Funding Source	Total Poison Center Funding in 2011 (in millions)	Estimated Medical Care Savings and Reduced Productivity Loss per Year (in millions)	Medical Care Savings and Reduced Productivity Loss per Year per Dollar of Funding
Federal Government	\$17.1	\$662.8	\$38.74
State and Local Government	\$83.8	\$284.2	\$3.39
Private	\$35.1	\$873.4	\$24.86
Total	\$136.0	\$1,820.5	\$13.39

As described above, we estimated that poison centers result in savings totaling \$1,820.5 million per year compared to \$136 million received in funding in 2011. These savings are shared by the federal government (through Medicare, TRICARE, Veterans Affairs, and part of Medicaid), state



^{*}The savings attributable to poison centers due to reductions in mortality was not examined in the current study because information on the influence of poison centers on mortality was not identified in peer-reviewed literature.

and local governments (through Medicaid, Worker's Compensation and other state and local health programs) and private sector (through family direct payments for care and private insurers).³ These data suggest that the efforts of poison centers save \$13.39 for every dollar spent on them.

The value of the poison center system is also described in terms of the cost relative to the population served. The savings and cost to fund poison centers relative to the population served (i.e., which includes 315,771,469 residents of the United States, Puerto Rico, US Virgin Islands, American Samoa, Micronesia, and Guam) are \$5.77 per year and \$0.43 per year per resident respectively.



IV. Feedback from a Sample of Poison Centers

A. Methods

As a part of the analysis, during the period between June 27, 2012 to July 5, 2012, directors and other leadership from five poison centers were invited to offer additional information on the specific issues relevant to poison centers. Interview questions were developed in conjunction with AAPCC (interview/focus group questions can be found in Appendix A). Interviews were conducted through teleconference and lasted 45 minutes to one hour. Participants were provided the interview questions prior to the interview. Interviewees were asked about their host institution, funding, staff and other resources, partnerships, poison center utilization, education and outreach services, and best practices. Information gathered from the interviewees was not attributed to any specific poison center in order to protect the confidentiality of the poison center being interviewed. The qualitative data was analyzed by categorizing interview responses into observable themes outlined below.

B. Overview

All directors reported an extensive tenure (≥ 12 years) with their poison center and retained significant historical information on the issues being discussed. The roles of poison center directors include but are not limited to: managing staff, program administration, and the securement of funding. The five poison centers represented in these interviews served an average of 14.5 million people (range 3 – 37 million) and staffed between 7.8 and 38.6 full-time employees. All poison centers reported approximately 80% utilization by the general public and 20% utilization by health care providers. Staff titles included: medical director, poison information specialists, epidemiologists, financial manager/bookkeeper, registered/critical care nurses, education and emergency preparedness coordinators, media specialists, and administrative assistants. The host entity of poison centers varies throughout AAPCC's membership. Several of the poison centers that were interviewed reported an association with a university, school of medicine or pharmacy, similar educational institution, or a stand-alone entity. All those interviewed, with the exception of one poison center, described the relationship between the poison center and the host institution as amicable. The dissenting poison center described the relationship with its host as anything but "kind and friendly." All poison centers reported having "good" or "symbiotic" relationships with their state departments of public health.

C. Funding Restraints

Although each poison center reported the receipt of in-kind services (*e.g.*, physical facilities, custodial services) and cost-sharing partnerships, all poison center managers reported budget deficiencies and shared concerns about the elimination or reduction in services that occur if funding issues were not adequately addressed. One poison center serving a major metropolitan area expressed significant distress about the real possibility of closing their poison center in the next six months if additional funding was not identified and secured. Poison center directors discussed a variety of strategies they employed to obtain funding for the administration of their poison centers, including:

- Charging hospital membership fees and/or encouraging hospital cost sharing
- Soliciting insurance company or insurance association contributions



- Petitioning state government
- Expanding the role of the poison center (e.g., emergency preparedness, drug monitoring programs)
- Sharing responsibilities with other poison centers in state network (e.g., the development of marketing materials)
- Instituting train-the-trainer models (*i.e.*, training public health volunteers to provide poison information)
- Seeking new partnerships and partners to advocate on their behalf (e.g., State Environmental Protection Agency, State Association of Health Plans, Pharmacy Associations)
- Revisiting the budget and conducting cost effectiveness studies for their poison center in order to demonstrate the ROI.

In light of recent funding reductions, the poison centers that were interviewed reported that they were required to scale-back services across the board and specifically to the areas of hospital preparedness, environmental disease detection, personnel, travel, and education and outreach services and materials. One poison center interviewed reported improvements in state funding.

When asked to describe the education and outreach activities in which their poison centers engaged, interviewees reported the following: school lectures for pre-K – 12 children and senior citizen education; pharmacy, medical, and nursing student, resident, and fellow training; media requests; rural health centers; health fairs; state injury prevention efforts; bioterrorism training and emergency preparedness. Poison centers also report working with the federal and state governments on environmental issues of national concern (*e.g.*, H1N1, the Gulf oil spill, and the Japanese earthquake). It was reported that the general public is the primary user of these services.

The interviews demonstrated that despite their varying nature, poison centers share many commonalities in regard to administration and funding challenges. All of the interviewees advocated complete transparency of budget-related information and future research needed to show cost efficiencies provided by poison centers.



V. Discussion

This white paper describes the value of the poison center system. The analyses confirm the overwhelming ROI that the poison center system contributes to the nation as a whole. The savings attributed to poison centers for avoided medical utilization, reduced hospital LOS, inperson outreach, and reduced work-loss days are: \$752.9, \$441.1, \$23.9 and \$603 million per year, respectively. In total, the poison center system saves over \$1.8 billion per year in medical costs and productivity. The ROI is \$13.39 for every dollar invested in the poison center system. The savings and cost to fund poison centers relative to the population served (i.e., which includes 315,771,469 residents of the United States, Puerto Rico, US Virgin Islands, American Samoa, Micronesia, and Guam) are \$5.77 per year and \$0.43 per year per resident respectively. These savings are shared by the federal and state and local governments and the private sector. Current analyses are based on the results of previous peer-reviewed research examining the contributions of the poison center system outlined in the Literature Review in Appendix B.

In 1997, Miller and Lestina found that each call to a poison center prevented \$175 in other health care spending. In 2008, Artalejo reported that for every dollar invested in the poison center system, \$7 was saved in health care costs. Our estimates of savings are higher than those previously reported because our analysis is comprehensive and includes all of the four most commonly referred to savings metrics (*i.e.*, savings due to avoided medical utilization, reduced hospital LOS, in-person outreach, and reduced work-loss days). Please note we did not attempt to quantify the value of other recognized benefits of the poison center system, which include but are not limited to the provision of surveillance data to Federal agencies, toxicology training of health care professionals, and involvement in local, State, and Federal emergency preparedness and response. Future research should explore the influence of poison center services on mortality.



VI. References

- 1. AAPCC. About AAPCC. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.aapcc.org/dnn/AAPCC/AboutAAPCC.aspx
- 2. Wolkin, A., Martin, C., Law, R., Schier, J. and Bronstein, A. (2011). Using Poison Center Data for National Public Health Surveillance for Chemical and Poison Exposure and Associated Illness. Annals of Emergency Medicine. Retrieved April 24, 2012 from http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/chemicals/pdfs/npds.pdf
- 3. Artalejo, L., Crouch, B., Geller, R., Marcus, S., & Schauben, J. (2008, March 2). The Value of the Poison Control Center. AAPCC. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from www.aapcc.org/dnn/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=YbyVEIEON3Q%3D&tabid=383&mid=1002
- 4. Spiller, H., & Griffith, J. (2009). The Value and Evolving Role of the U.S. Poison Control Center System. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2663870/
- 5. Lerner, W., & Warner, K. (1988). The Challenge of Privately-Financed Community Health Programs in an Era of Cost Containment: A Case Study of Poison Control Centers. Palgrave Macmillan Journals. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.palgrave-journals.com/jphp/journal/v9/n3/abs/jphp198848a.html
- 6. AAPCC. "American Association of Poison Control Centers: Poison Centers Federal Appropriations Cut by Nearly 25 percent in Proposed FY 2011 Continuing Resolution; Damaging Impact to States' Ability to Help Citizens." Distinct Inspirations. AAPCC, 13 Apr. 2011. Web. 24 Apr. 2012. http://distinctinspirations.wordpress.com/2011/05/02/poison-control-centers-lose-25-of-its-funding/.
- 7. AAPCC. (2012). Financial Report on the 2011 Survey of Poison Centers. Prepared by Association Research, Inc.
- 8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2012). Poisoning in the United States: fact sheet. Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from http://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/Poisoning/poisoning-factsheet.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2012). Methadone linked to 30 percent of prescription painkiller overdose deaths. Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2012/p0703_methadone.html
- 10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2009). Overview of the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP). Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/overview.jsp
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2012). Overview of the Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS). Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/nisoverview.jsp
- 12. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2011). Overview of the Nationwide Emergency Department Sample (NEDS). Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/nedsoverview.jsp#Whatis
- 13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2009). Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS). Retrieved on July 16, 2012 from



http://meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/about_meps/survey_back.jsp

- 14. Phillips, K., Homan, R., Hiatt, P., Luft, H., Kearney, T., Heard, S., et al. (1998, November 3). The costs and outcomes of restricting public access to poison control centers. Results from a natural experiment.. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9520953
- 15. Lovejoy, F., & Chafee-Bahamon, C. (1983, August 1). Effectiveness of a Regional Poison Center in Reducing Excess Emergency Room Visits for Children's Poisonings. Pediatrics. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.pediatricsdigest.mobi/content/72/2/164.short
- 16. Schleich, C & McIntire, M. (1984, April 26). Poison control and definitive cost containment. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6730293
- 17. King, W., & Palmisano, P. (1991, June 1). Poison Control Centers: Can Their Value Be Measured?. Southern Medical Journal. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://journals.lww.com/smajournalonline/Abstract/1991/06000/Poison_Control_Centers_Can_Their_Value_Be.11.aspx
- 18. Kearney, T., Olson, K., Bero, L., Heard, S., & Blanc, P. (1995, June 1). Health care cost effects of public use of a regional poison control center.. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1022825/
- Miller, T., & Lestina, D. (1997). Costs of poisoning in the United States and Savings from Poison Control Centers: A Benefit-Cost Analysis. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/m/pubmed/9018189/
- 20. Vassilev, Z., & Marcus, S. (2006). The impact of a poison control center on the length of hospital stay for patients with poisoning. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17365570
- 21. Galvao, T., Silva, M., Silva, C., Barotto, A., Gavioli, I., Bucaretchi, F., et al. (2011, January 1). Impact of a poison control center on the length of hospital stay of poisoned patients: retrospective cohort. Sao Paulo Medical Journal. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from www.scielo.br/pdf/spmj/v129n1/v129n1a05.pdf
- 22. Bunn, T., Slavova S., Spiller, H., Colvin, J., Bathke A., & Nicholson, V. (2007, August 31). The Effect of Poison Control Center Consultation on Accidental Poisoning Inpatient Hospitalizations with Preexisting Medical Conditions. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18253894
- 23. Institute of Medicine. Forging a poison prevention and control system. (2004). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- 24. Litovitz, T., Benson, B., Youniss, J., & Metz, E. (2010, June 1). Determinants of U.S. poison center utilization. Menatox Digest. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from menatox.squarespace.com/storage/MENATOX%20DIGEST%20July.pdf
- 25. Van Buren, J. and Fisher, L. (1990). Monroe County poison prevention demonstration project: final report to US Consumer Product Safety Commission. Albany, New York State Department of Health, 1990. Monroe County



26. Finkelstein, Corso, Miller and Associates. (2006). "The Incidence and Economic Burden of Injuries in the United States", Oxford University Press.



Appendix A - AAPCC Interview Questions

- 1. What entity (or entities) hosts your poison center?
- 2. What is the approximate number of individuals your poison center serves within your designated geographic service area?
- 3. How many full-time and part-time employees work for your poison center? What is your ideal level of staffing?
- 4. If you are willing to share this information, can you give me an approximation of your yearly budget?
- 5. What is your primary source of funding? Secondary sources? In-kind or shared resources? What is your ideal level of funding?
- 6. Has your poison center experienced any reductions in funding recently? If so, in what areas? Were these areas of your choosing or were they mandated in the funding reduction by an outside party?
- 7. Please describe your relationship with your State and/or local department of health.
- 8. Has your poison center arranged any special relationships or agreements to more efficiently share the costs of poison center operation?
- 9. Are there any public health and medicine partners that might be useful in bolstering up poison centers?
- 10. What entities (e.g., private citizens, health care providers, and government agencies) utilize your services the most?
- 11. Please describe the in-person educational/outreach services that your poison center offers to its surrounding community.
- 12. What entities (e.g., private citizens, health care providers, and government agencies) utilize your in-person educational/outreach services the most?
- 13. Have funding restraints affected the administration of in-person community educational/outreach services? If yes, how so?
- 14. How would centralization affect your center? How would centralization affect the provision of in-person services and other functions?
- 15. Has your organization identified any exemplary practices that may be useful to other poison centers?
- 16. Do you have any other comments that you would like to share relevant to this study?



Appendix B - Literature Review











HEALTHCARE AND HUMAN SERVICES POLICY, RESEARCH, AND CONSULTING - WITH REAL-WORLD PERSPECTIVE.

Literature Review on the Value of Poison Control Centers

Prepared for: American Association of Poison Control Centers

Submitted by: The Lewin Group, Inc.

September 26, 2012

Table of Contents

EXEC	UTIVE SUMMARY	1
LIST	OF ACRONYMS	3
I.	INTRODUCTION	4
II.	BACKGROUND	5
III.	AVOIDED MEDICAL TREATMENT OF POTENTIAL POISONINGS	7
	A. Loss of poison center Service	7
	B. Alternative Services Choices in the Absence of a poison center	7
	C. Medical Treatment Versus poison center Utilization	
IV.	MORE EFFICIENT CARE FOR THOSE HOSPITALIZED FOR POISONINGS	100
V.	SAVINGS FROM COMMUNITY EDUCATION AND OUTREACH	111
	A. Poison Prevention	111
	B. Evidence on Other Public Health Education	122
VI.	OTHER SOCIETAL BENEFITS	133
VII.	DATA COLLECTION AND RESEARCH	155
VIII.	REFERENCES	166



Executive Summary

There are many direct and indirect benefits of poison centers. The actual value attributable to poison centers is very difficult to quantify due to the preventative nature of their services. The influential role poison centers play in the US health system has largely gone unrecognized although poison centers provide value in a number of areas. Multiple studies have documented the cost efficiencies provided by poison centers to the health care industry. These cost efficiencies present themselves through decreased hospital stays and reductions in unnecessary use of emergency medical ambulatory services; emergency department visits; outpatient service utilization; and injury prevention, among other metrics. Although some studies are older and in need of updating, the available literature provides the following evidence of savings:

- Reduced Medically Treated Poisonings: poison centers reduce the number of poisonings that are "medically treated" resulting in fewer emergency room visits, fewer physician visits and reduced hospital stays. This evidence includes:
 - A study of a lapse in poison center coverage in Michigan in 1993 showed that treated poisonings increased by 33 percent (16 percent inpatient; 35 percent outpatient).
 - A study of a lapse in poison center coverage in Louisiana showed that the number of medically treated poisonings increased by 42 percent.
 - Based on these and other studies, Miller estimated that the average call to a poison center prevented \$175 in medical costs.
 - In a study of a period of restricted access to poison centers in California found that 14 percent of callers with restricted access were treated in an inappropriate location, resulting in added medical costs of \$33 per blocked call.
 - Using decision analysis techniques, one study found that the cost-effectiveness of treatment for poison exposures is about half as great without a regional poison center.
- Reduced Hospital Length of Stay for Poisonings: Hospital length of say is reduced for those admitted for poisonings in cases where physicians consult with poison control centers. Available evidence includes:
 - In a study of Uniform Billing data from the New Jersey Health Department showed that the median length of stay for patients where the physician consulted with the local poison center was two days compared with a median offive days for patients where the physicians did not consult with the poison center.
 - A study of poison control centers in Brazil showed that patients hospitalized for poisonings had a reduced length of stay of 3.4 days in cases where the physician received poison center consultation.
- Education and Outreach: In a study of public education and outreach efforts in schools and in the media, these poison center activities saved \$3 for every dollar invested, stressing the importance of local initiatives.



 Reduced Work-loss Days and other Social Costs: Articles have suggested that reductions in trips to health providers due to poison centers avert work-loss days for workers and working parents of affected children.

Understanding the additional community benefits provided by poison centers are important at this time because members of Congress have argued for consolidating the 57 poison centers into a single national call center. Consolidation would eliminate much of the community outreach and education conducted by the poison centers within their own communities. The available research on poison centers and public health interventions generally suggests that the savings from these outreach activities exceed the cost of providing the outreach services.



List of Acronyms

AAPCC American Association of Poison Control Centers

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

ED Emergency Department

EPA Environmental Protection Agency
FDA Food and Drug Administration

HHS Department of Health and Human ServicesHSPD-21 Homeland Security Presidential Directive 21

IOM Institute of Medicine

MEPS Medical Expenditure Panel Survey

NPDS National Poison Data System

NHDS National Hospital Discharge Survey

PAHPA Pandemic All-Hazards Preparedness Act SCHIP State Child Health Insurance Program

TESS Toxic Exposure Surveillance System



I. Introduction

The American Association of Poison Control Centers (AAPCC) is a non-profit organization that was established in 1958 to support local poison centers in the United States. Currently, the AAPCC provides support to 57 poison centers that offer free, 24-hour, over the phone, expert consultation by professionals specially trained in poison prevention and treatment. Healthcare providers and the public are able to obtain life-saving information on a number of toxicological agents through poison centers serving their communities. The AAPCC collects and aggregates data from poison centers to inform and update the only national database that maintains detailed information on poisonings. Poison centers also provide educational outreach to their communities regarding poison prevention and safety as well as offering information on a number of current events in which the public may have interest (*e.g.*, the Gulf oil spill, bath salts and button batteries).^{1,2}

Multiple studies have documented the cost effectiveness of the poison center programs. Cost efficiencies result largely from enabling people to treat potential poisonings at home without accessing costly health services such as emergency room and physician office visits. For those who are medically treated for poisonings, poison centers provide physicians with a reliable source for information on specific poisons and appropriate treatments, which has been shown to reduce hospital length of stay. Poison centers also provide education and community outreach that reduces the incidence of poisonings that has also been shown to be cost effective. Despite their accomplishments in the past 50 years, poison centers are being targeted for significant reductions in federal funding (36%). This comes at a time when poison centers are under severe financial strain as they experience a number of financial reductions in state support and other resources.²

In light of potential funding cuts for poison centers, it is important to understand the cost-effectiveness of services these organizations provide to communities. A number of studies have demonstrated that poison centers reduce health spending and that the amount of these health care savings far exceeds the cost of providing poison center services. In fact, one study shows that 20% of these reductions in health spending are savings to the federal government for people covered under Medicare and Medicaid, even though only about 6% of poison center funding comes from the federal government.²²

In this report, we provide a review of the literature on the cost-effectiveness of the poison center program nationwide. We present these results in the following sections:

- Background;
- Reduced medical treatment for potential poisonings;
- More efficient care for those hospitalized for poisonings;
- Savings from community education and outreach;
- Other societal benefits; and
- Data collection and research.



II. Background

The first poison center came about after the American Academy of Pediatrics commissioned the Committee on Accident Prevention to explore methods to reduce injury to young children. The Committee determined that many childhood injuries were related to accidental poisonings. In an effort to establish a single source of information for physicians attempting to treat toxicological exposures, they established the first Poison Information Center in Chicago, Illinois in 1953. The formation of this center was made possible when one of the Committee members, seven hospitals, and the Illinois Health Department pooled their resources to fund this initiative.³

The success of the first Poison Information Center led to the establishment of other poison centers throughout the US. In an effort to standardize the flow of information received and provided by poison centers, in 1957, the now defunct National Clearinghouse for Poison Control Centers was designated as the entity responsible for providing information to and collecting data from poison centers.^{3,4} In an effort to further improve the quality of services offered, the AAPCC was created in 1958 and continues to evaluate and certify poison centers. Improvement to the poison center system included streamlining the then 661 local and regional operating poison centers to provide more skilled staff, better data collection services, and targeted community education and outreach.^{3,5}

In 2006, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) in their report, "Forging a Poison Prevention and Control System," urged poison centers to continue efforts to improve services that would lessen the economic burden of poisonings to the health care system. In 2006, this burden was estimated to be \$12.6 billion. In addition, the IOM made 12 recommendations to the poison control system including strengthening the nation's emergency preparedness capabilities, maintaining a vital network of regional poison centers, and revising legislation to ensure sufficient funding for the maintenance and expansion of the poison control system.⁶ Today, there are 57 poison centers mostly located in the Southern US region which field on average 45,189 calls per fiscal year per center. Some large centers may receive on average 74,576 calls per fiscal year while small centers on average may receive as few as 32,672 calls per fiscal year.⁷

There are many direct and indirect beneficiaries of poison centers. The actual value attributable to poison centers is very difficult to quantify due to the preventive nature of their services. The influential role they play in the US health system has largely gone unrecognized although poison centers provide value in a number of areas including direct consultation to the public and health care providers (both human and veterinary); law enforcement; product manufacturers; insurers; and local, state and federal governments. In addition to direct consultation, poison centers provide real-time surveillance data allowing for the identification and tracking of public health and environmental threats. They also provide educational services for not only their employees but also other health professionals and the community at large.⁸⁻¹⁰

The provision of patient health care has been a fundamental part of poison center services. In many ways, poison center professionals serve as primary health care providers for the home management of suspected poisonings and as toxicology consultants for health care providers and hospitals. In less than a few minutes, callers are connected to specially trained individuals knowledgeable of the treatment, prevention and safety measures that should be taken to prevent injury from a number of hazardous materials. This rapid early intervention often limits morbidity



and prevents mortality. Poison center staff follow-up each case of suspected or known poisoning in order to access the effects of treatment, to advise on continuing care and to collect data on the occurrence. In addition, poison centers have emerged as a useful asset in the response to local, state, national, and international emergencies by providing up-to-date information to the public and the media specifically targeting the communities they serve.^{8,9} The services offered by poison centers are available in over 150 languages and are accessible to those who are deaf and others who may have hearing disabilities. Poison centers do not charge the public a fee for any of the services they provide.



III. Avoided Medical Treatment of Potential Poisonings

One of the primary benefits of the poison center system is that it enables people to treat many potential poisonings at home without going to an emergency room or other health provider. The avoidance of unnecessary medical treatments for potential poisonings has been cited as one of the major impacts attributable to poison centers. Specifically, consultation with poison centers has been shown to reduce unnecessary emergency department visits for suspected and actual poisoning incidents. A number of studies document cost-saving reductions as a result of poison center consultation and other benefits such as ease of mind parents and other caretakers receive that cannot be fully quantified.^{9,10} Health care cost savings are shared by hospitals, insurers, taxpayers and government health care funding agencies such as Medicaid, Medicare, and the State Child Health Insurance Program (SCHIP).⁸

A. Loss of Poison Center Service

One study conducted by King and Palmisano had the unique opportunity to observe the behaviors of residents living in areas served by a Louisiana poison center prior to and after losing access to poison center service. The authors compare the effects the Louisiana poison center closure had on the neighboring Alabama poison center during the same time. Prior to the loss of poison center access in Louisiana, Louisiana and Alabama had very similar poison exposure triage patterns. When Louisiana residents lost access to their poison center services, the researchers noted that less than half of Louisiana residents managed poison exposures at home when compared to Alabama residents. Louisiana residents sought the services of health care facilities more than four times that of residents in Alabama who had access to a poison center. The authors noted that a number of parents (63.3%) of young children would have utilized emergency medical services in the absence of a poison center. This would translate to a range of 3,614 and 15,757 unnecessary visits per year to emergency departments resulting in \$315,350 and \$1.4 million (1991 figures) of unnecessary medical costs.¹¹

A similar study conducted by Phillips *et al* found that an additional cost of \$33.14 (1998 figures) encompassing charges related to health care resources was incurred in the absence of poison center service. In this study, callers were electronically restricted from using poison center services in California and instead routed to 911 who had access to poison center service if needed. This study found that instead of resolving county funding shortages by restricting poison center service, the elimination of poison center access actually resulted in higher levels of expense than required to fund the preventive services offered by the poison center.¹²

B. Alternative Services Choices in the Absence of a Poison Center

Lovejoy and Chafee-Bahamon conducted a study to determine the necessity of emergency room care for pediatric poisoning patients. They found that the majority (63%) of patients did not need emergency care and the majority of parents (95%) did not utilize poison center services. Of the parents who did not call their poison center, 44% visited the emergency room compared to less than 1% of those parents utilizing poison center services. In this study, the regional poison center was found to be significantly effective in reducing unnecessary hospital visits.¹³ A similar study conducted by Schleich and McIntire sought to determine the cost-savings of a Nebraska poison center by identifying alternate actions that would have been taken in the absence of the poison center. The authors also looked at the entity that would have been responsible for paying those



costs. The authors found that 84.6% of individuals would have gone to the emergency department if a poison center had not been accessible. Assuming an average call would take 10 minutes to address, the authors concluded that the poison center avoided 2,257 hours of health care provision. They identified the beneficiaries of poison center service as physicians, their staffs, emergency departments, other health care clinics and insurers.¹⁴

In 1994, a study performed by Mvros and colleagues demonstrated the cost-savings associated with unnecessary emergency department visits due to poison center closure. Based on previous studies, the authors assumed that at least 60% of patients would go directly to the emergency department to seek care if no poison center existed. Callers to a poison center were surveyed on the existence and type of health insurance coverage. It was determined that without a center, the state would incur fees ranging from \$1.27 to \$2.20 million per year and private insurers \$4.58 to \$7.93 million per year. These estimates include emergency department fees only and not the cost of associated hospital admissions. The authors assert that poison centers are cost-effective mechanisms that prevent unnecessary medical utilization.¹⁵ Kearney *et al*, also inquired of poison center callers what alternative services they would utilize in the absence of poison centers. They found that 79% of callers would have used emergency services that would have been primarily paid for by private insurers. The costs associated with seeking emergency medical services were estimated to be more than five times the actual operating costs of the poison center.¹⁶

A study by LoVecchio *et al* estimated savings of more than \$33 million (2008 figures) based on the assumption that without poison center service, 75% of surveyed callers would have visited an emergency department. For each dollar invested into poison center services, a low estimate of \$36 is saved by avoiding unnecessary medical utilization and managing poisoning cases at home.¹⁷ Another study utilizing telephone surveys focused on callers in South Carolina. This study explores the value of poison centers in the same way, by analyzing the cost-benefit of avoided medical utilization. The authors estimate a benefit-to-cost ratio of 7.67%. This translates to a savings of \$7.67 for every dollar spent to fund this particular poison center.¹⁸ Spiller and Singleton also recognized the availability of poison center services contributed to reductions in hospital utilization in instances of poisonings when compared to other injuries.¹⁹

C. Medical Treatment Versus Poison Center Utilization

While the majority of studies focus on alternative choices taken by residents in the absence of poison centers, a few studies examine the relationship between hospital utilization related to poisoning and poison center utilization. Zaloshnja *et al* examined the rates of poison center calls compared to hospital utilization rates. The authors noted that in the rural counties examined, a 1% poison center call rate was related to a 0.19% lower hospitalization rate in those seeking emergency care for poisoning. They recognized a net cost savings of \$7,321 (2006 figures) for those counties with poison center accessibility.²⁰ A similar study, conducted two years later by the same authors looked at the association between poison center usage and non-admitted poisoning cases. They recognized almost identical findings and assert a probable association between the two.²¹

In what is perhaps one of the most comprehensive cost-benefit analysis of poison centers, Miller and Lestina used National Medical Expenditure Survey, US Vital Statistics, National Hospital Discharge Survey and AAPCC data to measure financial savings attributable to poison centers. Their analysis shows that poison centers reduced unnecessary hospital utilization by



approximately 24% and poison-related hospitalization by 12%. This resulted in savings of \$355 million compared to the \$65 million needed to support poison center operation (1992 figures). This translates into an average of \$175 saved per poison center call. Those who benefited from these savings included hospitals, third party payers (private insurers, workers' compensation, health maintenance organizations), and state and federal governments.²²



IV. More Efficient Care for Those Hospitalized for Poisonings

In addition to avoided emergency room and physician services, poison centers have been found to reduce the length-of-stay costs for poisonings serious enough for the patient to be hospitalized. The reason for this is that many health care providers will access poison centers to assist in determining the type of poisoning and the recommended treatments. Treating poisoning patients requires extensive specialized knowledge that not all physician can be expected to possess and maintain. The poison center gives providers an independent source of technical information on effects of poisonings and best practices for treatment. The ability to both assist patients and health care providers is a unique element of poison centers.

Harrison *et al* estimated the direct costs associated with treatment options for the four most common types of poisonings. In each case and regardless of outcome, the utilization of poison center services was found to be significantly and consistently more cost-effective than treatment without poison center consultation. Specifically, the cost of patients treated with out poison center consultation was almost double the cost of those utilizing poison center services. Bunn *et al*, through the examination of AAPCC and hospital discharge data, found that poison center consultation is highly correlated with reductions in the length of stay and hospitalization fees for patients (controlling for age and gender) with and without preexisting medical conditions.²⁴

In an effort to determine the effects of poison center consultation on hospital length of stay, Vassilev and Marcus examined New Jersey Health Department and poison center data on all poisonings reported to the New Jersey Poison Information and Education System in 2002. They found that with the assistance of a poison center, hospital stays ranged from 0 to 126 days compared to 0 to 220 days for patients who did not use poison center services. In 2011, Galvao *et al* conducted a similar study which examined the medical records of poisoned patients in Manaus between 2005 and 2007. They compared this information to local poison center data to determine which patients utilized poison center services. Patients using poison center services experienced on average a 3.43 day shorter stay than those who did not use the poison center prior to seeking medical attention.²⁶



V. Savings from Community Education and Outreach

Another important function of the poison centers is to provide educational programs for both lay persons and physicians. For example, many poison centers provide community education to school teachers and parents on how to avoid poisonings for children. They also provide training to physicians and other health workers on the more technical aspects of diagnosing and treating poisoning. These services help to reduce the incidence of potential poisonings in the community while improving medical response. Poison prevention education and outreach is another societal benefit that's value is not easily quantified.

Poison prevention education, as described by the IOM, consists of two distinct kinds of activities: primary education, which focuses on poison prevention, and secondary education, which attempts to reduce the adverse effects of poisonings by raising awareness of poison centers. poison center educators disseminate poison prevention and preparedness information specifically targeted for the communities in which they serve. This information may come in the form of fliers, bulletins, brochures, website postings, warning labels, public service announcements or other similar distribution methods. In many cases, poison centers collaborate with other entities (*e.g.*, health departments, hospitals, schools, and the CDC) to further the impact of their efforts. The goals of educational outreach are to stimulate health behavior changes among the vulnerable populations and to encourage the use of poison centers.^{6,9,10}

Understanding the additional community benefits provided by poison centers is important at this time because members of Congress have argued for consolidating the 57 poison centers into a single national call center. Consolidation would eliminate much of the community outreach and education conducted by the poison centers within their own communities. The available research on poison centers and public health interventions generally suggests that the savings from these outreach activities exceed the cost of providing the outreach services. Consolidation would eliminate the net benefit of these activities.^{6, 36}

A. Poison Prevention

There are only a few studies that specifically examine the influence of educational outreach on poisoning events. One of the first studies on the subject was conducted by Maisel and colleagues in 1967. The authors sought to determine if a large poison prevention campaign decreased the numbers of accidental poisonings within a certain geographic area. The educational campaign proved to be successful in effectively reducing the amount of accidental poisonings during the intervention timeline as reported by the National Clearinghouse for Poison Control Centers. These declines ranged from 23-29% over the intervention period.²⁹

Nixon *et al* call for additional studies on the subject. In their systematic review of community-based injury prevention programs to prevent poisonings, they cite a study conducted by Krug *et al*. In this study, the influence of child resistant closures on paraffin packages was examined in South Africa. The researchers noted that the educational outreach and public health intervention program yielded a 47% reduction in the incidence of poisonings for this community when compared to the control community.³⁰

Another study conducted by Krenzelok, Mrvos, and Mazo determined the effectiveness of a combined primary and secondary passive education initiative to increase poison center awareness



through the use of "Poison Help" stickers. The stickers contained the national toll-free poison center telephone number and were distributed by the Pittsburgh Poison Center along with a quarterly publication from the Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. Copies of this publication were circulated to 19 counties in western Pennsylvania. The results were measured in terms of call volume within the poison center's service area. Volume increased by an average of 8.8% from the counties where at least 5% of residents received the mailing. The authors noticed a modest positive impact (5%) on poison center call volume for those residents that were targeted and recommend collaboration with other public health entities to improve the effects of educational interventions.³¹

B. Evidence on Other Public Health Education

Other studies related to this topic focus on general injury prevention and are not exclusively focused on poison prevention. Guyer *et al* studied community-based injury prevention campaigns (that included poison prevention) focused on children from birth to 5 years. The study incorporated the use of control communities to determine the influence of educational interventions. The authors estimate that 42% of targeted households were exposed to at least one of the programs during the two-year period. They found that exposure to the program was positively correlated with poison-related safety behaviors (*i.e.*, participation in safety programs, increased knowledge).³²

Lindqvist *et al* use a cross sectional data set from two municipalities in Sweden, pre and post implementation of the World Health Organization Safe Community model to explore its effect on injuries in children. They found that the risk of child injury decreased more in the intervention community than in the control community over the period studied; minor injury probability was reduced slightly, moderately severe injury probability was reduced by almost half, and probability of severe injury remained constant.³³



VI. Other Societal Benefits

It is very difficult to objectively assess all of the societal benefits that can be attributed to poison center services due to the preventive nature of their activities. These societal benefits include but are not limited to the following:8,10,22

- Reduction in patient and family anxiety
- Reduction in emergency department overcrowding
- Reduction of burden in the overall medical system
- Avoidance of trauma, injury, or death
- Provision and impact of outreach and educational services for the public and health care provider community
- Identification of micro-epidemics
- Improved quality of care
- Increase in consumer knowledge
- Efficiencies in treatment (time-savings)
- Reduction in disability/quality of life losses
- Reduction in work-loss days.

The benefits listed above are not tangible and thus not easily quantified. In an effort to analyze the cost of poisonings, Miller and Lestina included future earnings and quality of life estimations in their calculations in addition to the most common variable used, medical payments. Future earnings include a person's salary lost to injury, fringe benefits, and household work. Quality of life estimates the cost of pain, anguish, and loss of quality of life for patients and their affected family members and encompasses what economists define as the average cost society is willing to spend to save one life. The authors estimate that poisoning incidents cost the nation \$50 billion in 1992. This includes \$12 billion for lost wages/household work, \$35 billion in loss of quality of life, and \$3 billion in medical spending (1997 figures).²²

Schleich and McIntire examine alternative treatment decisions residents would have made if poison centers were not available. This study uniquely examines the efficiencies in treatment (time-savings) gained through the utilization of poison center services. The results of the telephone survey indicated that poison centers generate significant time-savings for health care providers by providing more concise treatment regimens. The authors estimate that if each poison exposure call was only 10 minutes in duration, this individual poison center would have saved 2,257 man-hours for local clinics, physicians, and emergency departments.¹⁴

There are several studies that examine facilitators and barriers to poison center utilization. Kelly *et al* explored utilization rate differences by demographic variables. The authors found that those with prior knowledge of poison centers were more likely (92% vs 68%) to call a poison center before seeking medical help than those without. In addition, callers were more likely (39% vs 19%) to have their poison center's number posted or easily accessible within the home than those not using poison center services.³⁴ In a similar study, Kelly and Groff used focus group data from



women attending an urban clinic. The group was composed of 43 women, 21 Spanish speaking and 22 English speaking, who participated in seven groups. The study found that those women using poison center services exhibited higher levels of poison prevention knowledge and behaviors when compared to those not utilizing poison center services.³⁵ Both of these studies call for increased educational intervention efforts to target underserved populations, particularly African Americans and Spanish-speaking residents.^{34, 35}

Litovitz *et al* used 2001 data from the National Poison Data System to identify factors that influence "poison center penetrance," or the number of human poison exposures reported to a poison center per 1,000 population. The authors found that lower poison exposure rates were positively associated with higher numbers of health educators, although race, language and distance serve as barriers to their utilization.³⁶ Many other studies cite the benefits and cost-effectiveness of public health interventions. Their effectiveness has been demonstrated repeatedly through the use of community health workers and other community health interventions addressing diabetes, influenza, AIDS, asthma and childhood injury prevention programs.³⁷⁻⁴⁴



VII. Data Collection and Research

Poison centers offer additional benefits to society through the collection of detailed data on poisoning occurrences throughout the US. The AAPCC collects and aggregates data from individual poison centers into the National Poison Data System (NPDS). The NPDS has been in use since 2006 when it replaced the system previously used to collect poisoning data, the Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS). The NPDS includes data previously collected by TESS, is accessible to authorized users through the Internet, and allows for data sharing between authorized entities. Granular information from each call is collected including demographic information (*e.g.*, age, gender, weight, and ZIP code), type of exposure, and details of clinical management and outcomes.²⁷

The NPDS collects data almost instantaneously and serves as a surveillance system for public health and environmental toxins. The NPDS has been used to track outbreaks including selenosis in dietary supplements and *Salmonella typhimurium* in peanut butter and has been used to identify clinical effect anomalies. This capability allows allow poison centers to alert the proper authorities if a micro-epidemic is observed in one of their communities. Other benefits of NPDS include but are not limited to:9, 27, 28

- Providing direction to new research
- Prompting improvements or alterations to current clinical therapies
- Stimulating development of new medical products
- Providing insight into the efficacy of product safety measures
- Improving and monitoring consumer safety
- Minimizing injury or risk through the examination of safety data
- Demonstrating the level of safety associated with pharmaceutical and other medical products
- Contributing to regulatory reporting requirements
- Reducing the amount of animal testing for new products.

Many federal agencies use this data including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The NPDS also serves as a national biosurveillance tools as indicated in the Pandemic All-Hazards Preparedness Act (PAHPA) and Homeland Security Presidential Directive 21 (HSPD-21).²⁷



VIII. References

- 1. AAPCC. About AAPCC. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.aapcc.org/dnn/AAPCC/AboutAAPCC.aspx
- AAPCC. "American Association of Poison Control Centers: Poison Centers Federal Appropriations Cut by Nearly 25 percent in Proposed FY 2011 Continuing Resolution; Damaging Impact to States' Ability to Help Citizens." Distinct Inspirations. AAPCC, 13 Apr. 2011. Web. 24 Apr. 2012. http://distinctinspirations.wordpress.com/2011/05/02/poison-control-centers-lose-25-of-its-funding/.
- 3. Scherz, R., & Robertson, W. (1978). The History of Poison Control Centers in the United States. Informa Healthcare. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/15563657809150481
- 4. Duke Poison Control Center. Official Creation of the Poison Control Center and the Growth of the National Poison Control Movement. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://digitaldukemed.mc.duke.edu/pcc/creation.html
- 5. Thompson, D., Trammel, H., Robertson, N., & Reigart, J. R. (1983, January 27). Evaluation of regional and nonregional poison centers. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6848921
- 6. Institute of Medicine. Forging a poison prevention and control system. (2004). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- 7. AAPCC. (2012). Report on the 2011 Survey of Poison Centers. Prepared by Association Research, Inc.
- 8. Artalejo, L., Crouch, B., Geller, R., Marcus, S., & Schauben, J. (2008, March 2). The Value of the Poison Control Center. AAPCC. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from www.aapcc.org/dnn/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=YbyVEIEON3Q%3D&tabid=383&mid=1002
- 9. Spiller, H., & Griffith, J. (2009). The Value and Evolving Role of the U.S. Poison Control Center System. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2663870/
- 10. Lerner, W., & Warner, K. (1988). The Challenge of Privately-Financed Community Health Programs in an Era of Cost Containment: A Case Study of Poison Control Centers. Palgrave Macmillan Journals. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.palgrave-journals.com/jphp/journal/v9/n3/abs/jphp198848a.html
- 11. King, W., & Palmisano, P. (1991, June 1). Poison Control Centers: Can Their Value Be Measured?. Southern Medical Journal. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://journals.lww.com/smajournalonline/Abstract/1991/06000/Poison_Control_Centers_Can_Their_Value_Be.11.aspx
- 12. Phillips, K., Homan, R., Hiatt, P., Luft, H., Kearney, T., Heard, S., et al. (1998, November 3). The costs and outcomes of restricting public access to poison control centers. Results from a natural experiment.. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9520953
- 13. Lovejoy, F., & Chafee-Bahamon, C. (1983, August 1). Effectiveness of a Regional Poison Center in Reducing Excess Emergency Room Visits for Children's Poisonings. Pediatrics. Retrieved



- April 24, 2012, from http://www.pediatricsdigest.mobi/content/72/2/164.short
- 14. Schleich, C & McIntire, M. (1984, April 26). Poison control and definitive cost containment. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6730293
- 15. Mrvos, R., Dean, B., & Krenzelok, E. (1994). Poison Center Funding Who should Pay?. Informa Healthcare. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/15563659409011054
- 16. Kearney, T., Olson, K., Bero, L., Heard, S., & Blanc, P. (1995, June 1). Health care cost effects of public use of a regional poison control center.. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1022825/
- 17. LoVecchio, F., Curry, S., Waszolek, K., Klemens, J., Hovseth, K., & Glogan, D. (2008, November 4). Poison control centers decrease emergency health care utilization costs. SpringerLink electronic journals, protocols and books.. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.springerlink.com/content/u7781m2511487011/
- 18. Blizzard, J., Michels, J., Richardson, W., Reeder, C., Schulz, R., & Holstege, C. (2008). Costbenefit analysis of a regional poison center. Clinical Toxicology, 46, 450-456. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://informahealth.care.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15563650701616145
- 19. Spiller, H., & Singleton, M. (2011). Comparison of Incidence of Hospital Utilization for Poisoning and Other Injury Types. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3001828/
- Zaloshnja, E., Miller, T., Jones, P., Litovitz, T., Coben, J., Steiner, C., & Sheppard, M. (2006).
 The potential impact of poison control centers on rural hospitalization rates for poisoning.
 Pediatrics. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17079583
- 21. Zaloshnja, E., Miller, T., Jones, P., Litovitz, T., Coben, J., Steiner, C., & Sheppard, M. (2008). The impact of poison control centers on poisoning-related visits to EDs United States, 2003. The American Journal of Emergency Medicine. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ajemjournal.com/article/S0735-6757%2807%2900684-5/abstract
- Miller, T., & Lestina, D. (1997). Costs of poisoning in the United States and Savings from Poison Control Centers: A Benefit-Cost Analysis. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/m/pubmed/9018189/
- 23. Harrison, D., Drauglis, J., Slack, M., & Langley, P. (1996, December 9). Cost-effectiveness of Regional Poison Control Centers. Archives of Internal Medicine. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://archinte.ama-assn.org/cgi/content/abstract/156/22/2601
- 24. Bunn, T., Slavova S., Spiller, H., Colvin, J., Bathke A., & Nicholson, V. (2007, August 31). The Effect of Poison Control Center Consultation on Accidental Poisoning Inpatient Hospitalizations with Preexisting Medical Conditions. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18253894
- 25. Vassilev, Z., & Marcus, S. (2006). The impact of a poison control center on the length of hospital stay for patients with poisoning. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17365570



- 26. Galvao, T., Silva, M., Silva, C., Barotto, A., Gavioli, I., Bucaretchi, F., et al. (2011, January 1). Impact of a poison control center on the length of hospital stay of poisoned patients: retrospective cohort. Sao Paulo Medical Journal. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from www.scielo.br/pdf/spmj/v129n1/v129n1a05.pdf
- 27. Wolkin, A., Martin, C., Law, R., Schier, J. and Bronstein, A. (2011). Using Poison Center Data for National Public Health Surveillance for Chemical and Poison Exposure and Associated Illness. Annals of Emergency Medicine. Retrieved April 24, 2012 from http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/chemicals/pdfs/npds.pdf
- 28. AAPCC. NPDS/Poison Data. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.aapcc.org/dnn/NPDSPoisonData.aspx
- 29. Maisel, G., Langdoc, B., Jenkins, M., & Aycock, E. (1967). Analysis of Two Surveys Evaluating a Project to Reduce Accidental Poisoning Among Children. Public Health Reports. Retrieved April 24, 2012 from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1920044/pdf/pubhealthreporig00030-0089.pdf
- 30. Nixon, J., Spinks, A., Turner, C., & McClure, R. (2004). Community based programs to prevent poisoning in children 0-15 years. BMJ Injury Prevention. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from bmj-injuryprev.highwire.org/content/10/1/43.abstract
- 31. Krenzelok, E., Mrvos, R., & Mazo, E. (2008, May 1). Combining primary and secondary poison prevention in one initiative. Pennsylvania Department of Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from www.dsf.health.state.pa.us/health/lib/health/epidemiology/krenzelok_article.pdf
- 32. Guyer, B., Gallagher, S., Chang, B., Azzara, C., Cupples, L. A., & Colton, T. (1989, November 1). Prevention of Childhood Injuries: Evaluation of the Statewide Childhood Injury Prevention Program (SCIPP). American Public Health Association publications. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.79.11.1521
- 33. Lindqvist, K., Timpka, T., Schelp, L., & Risto, O. (2002). Evaluation of a child safety program based on the WHO Safe Community model. Injury Prevention BMJ Journals. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://bmj-injuryprev.highwire.org/content/8/1/23.abstract
- 34. Kelly, N., Kirkland, R., Holmes, S., Ellis, M., Delclos, G., & Kozinetz, C. (1997, August 1). Assessing Parental Utilization of the Poison Center: An Emergency Center-Based Survey. Clinical Pediatrics. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://cpj.sagepub.com/content/36/8/467.short
- 35. Kelly, N., & Groff, J. (2000, July 1). Exploring Barriers to Utilization of Poison Centers: A Qualitative Study of Mothers Attending an Urban Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) Clinic. Pediatrics Digest. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.pediatricsdigest.mobi/content/106/Supplement_1/199.full.pdf+html
- 36. Litovitz, T., Benson, B., Youniss, J., & Metz, E. (2010, June 1). Determinants of U.S. poison center utilization. Menatox Digest. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from menatox.squarespace.com/storage/MENATOX%20DIGEST%20July.pdf
- 37. Weaver, M., Krieger, J., Castorina, J., Walls, M., & Ciske, S. (2001). Cost-effectiveness of Combined Outreach for the Pneumococcal and Influenza Vaccines. Archives of Internal Medicine. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11146707



- 38. Felix, H., Mays, G., Stewart, K., Cottoms, N., & Olson, M. (2011). Medicaid Savings Resulted When Community Health Workers Matched Those With Needs to Home and Community Care. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/30/7/1366.abstract
- 39. Han, R., Ungar, W., & Macarthur, C. (2007). Cost-effectiveness Analysis of a Proposed Public Health Legislative/Educational Strategy to Reduce Tap Water Scald Injuries in Children. Injury Prevention. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17686935
- 40. Krieger, J., Takaro, T., Song, L., & Weaver, M. (2005). The Seattle-King County Healthy Homes Project: A Randomized, Controlled Trial of a Community Health Worker Intervention to Decrease Exposure to Indoor Asthma Triggers. American Journal of Public Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1449237/
- 41. Pinkerton, S., Holtgrave, D., DiFranceisco, W., Stevenson, L., and Kelly, J. (1998). Costeffectiveness of a Community-Level HIV Risk Reduction Intervention. American Journal of Public Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1508314/
- 42. Fedder, D., Chang, R., Curry, S., & Nichols, G. (2003). The Effectiveness of a Community Health Worker Outreach Program on Healthcare Utilization of West Baltimore City Medicaid Patients with Diabetes, with or without Hypertension. Ethnicity & Disease. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ishib.org/journal/ethn-13-01-22.pdf
- 43. Goodwin, K., and Tobler, L. (2008). Community Health Workers: Expanding the Scope of the Health Care Delivery System. Presented at the National Conference of State Legislatures. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.ncsl.org/print/health/CHWBrief.pdf
- 44. Owen, L., Morgan, A., Fischer, A., Ellis, S., Hoy, A., & Kelly, M. (2011). The Cost-Effectiveness of Public Health Interventions. Journal of Public Health. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2011/09/20/pubmed.fdr075.short?rss=

